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Lo - and unwarranted repression of constitutional rights and civil liberties” according
o to a letter to Attomey General John Asheroft from AFL-CIO Pregident John
Sweeney. The United Steelworkers of America called on the U.S, Congress to
investigate the police department and the Sicrra Club asked the Department of
Tustice for an investigation. The AFL-CIO asked both DOJ and the state of

- Florida to investigate the “intimidation and abuse of peaceful protesters.”

In testimony before the Judiciary Committee in December, AFL-CIO chief
international economist Thea Lee desctibed the planning by 90 organizations
concerned with “global justice issues” for 3 week of seminars and other events,
culminating in a march and rally on November 20, She said the labor
organizations and other groups estimated their presence would be between 10,000

* and 20,000 Petsons, but police repeatedly estimated that demonstrators would
total up to 100,000, That exaggeration, she said, created concern for the public
and permitted the police jurisdictions to essentially “over-prepare” and create an
atmosphere of hysteria, - ; '

. She said the AFL-CIO negotiated for months over atrangements for the
permittéd march and rally, taking particular concern for the comfort of senior
citizens — 25 busloads of seniors were expected at the rally af the Bayside
Amphitheater sponsored by the Alliance for Refired Americans. That morning,
however, she said they awoke to a “militatized zone” with the entrance to the

. amphitheater blocked by tanks and water cannon. Buses were prevernited from
dropping the seniors off near the event, as previously arranged while other buses
of seniors from throughout Florida were kept well away from the downtown area.

She said previously credentialed AFL-CIO marshals were told their credentials -
wereinvalid and participants “were denjed access to rental toilets and 10,000 -
bottles of water we had purchased.” : ' ;

L N
——— .

_ After the rally she déscribed actions by police lines to move rally.
participants away from the atphitheater down a side street. “Police in riot gear
then began firing rubber bullets directly into the crowd.” The experience in
Miami, she said, “was something beyond any of the previous demonstrations” at

 trade meetings around the couniry. While noting the presence of many courteous
and professional law enforcement officers, she said, “our quatrel is with police

‘management and the top city officials.” The leadérship, shé said, was responsible

for “cbstruction; intimidation; harassment; excessive, unnecessary and - N o

unprovoked use of force; possibly illegal seazch and seizure, and arrests.” :

_ As of mid-December the ACLU had gathiered more than 130 roports of
protester injuries, including 19 confirmed head injuties, and indicated plans to file
at least three and as many as a dogzen Jawsuiis against the Miami-area police
departments, cities, and counties. C

Police Depariment Retrenchment
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In recent years as national and local groups have challenged law
-enforcement actions during demonstrations, police departments have sought to
remove rules and regulations that have governed their surveillance of political
organizations since the 1960s when police “Red Squads” were faulted for
Constitutional violations. Prior to the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks, police
officials in Chicago and New York City sought, and eventually succeeded, in
amending procedures agreed to in the wake of domestic spying scandals in the
1960s and 1970s. A

Chicago

: Antivar protesters and others filed suit in 1974 accusing the Chicago _
Police Department and its so-called “Red Squad” of violating the rights of antiwar
groups; religious activists, and others based on the content of their speech. A U.S.

‘District Court consent decree resultéd, liriting domestic surveillance unlessan
organization had demonstrated actual criminal intent. Tn 1999 the city of Chicago

and Chicago Police Department asked the U.S. District Court to refax the
restrictions negotiated in the 1970s, and in January 2001 the 7™ Circuit Court of
Appeals ruled that the regulations were an impediinent to law enforcement. -

In March of that year the U.S. District Court accepted a modified decree

that acknowledges First and Fourth Amendment protections, essentially approves

“xeasonable time, place and manner regulations supported by an appropriate

.governmental interest,” and protects against “government intrusion not justified

by an appropriate goveramental interest or function.” The decres enjoins the

~ :Chicago Police Department from violating First Amendment guarantees adding

“nothing shall enjoin reasonable investigative or law enforcement activities that

‘are permitted by the First Amendment,”

 Adepartmental general order issued in October 2001 restates the language

~of the court decree. The policy statement includes:

Department members may not investigate, prosecute, disrupt, interfere
with, hatass, or diserithinate against aity person engaged in First
Amendment conduct for the putpose of punishing, retaliating, or
preventing the person fiom exercising hi§ or her First Améndment rights,

- The 2001 general order perruits “investigations directed foward First
Amendment-related Intelligence” that are not part of a criminal investigation with
the approval of a senior official, with a time lmit 6f 120 days, and based on

“having “a proper law enforcement purpose.” Examples cited: (1) someone hands

out fliers supporting the bombing of targets in the U.S. and an investigation
pursues the source of the literature; (2) 4 website promotes violence in furtherance
of pro-life goals and the investigation monitors the rumber of hits the website
teceives, The policy perthits infiliration approved by the Superihtendent of Police
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and, if permitted longer than 30 days, progress reports every 30 days. The General
Order includes another example of a situation that does not warrant investigation:

An organization advocating worldwide disarmament opens an office in
Chicago and a sworn member suggests raiding its offices to determine if it
advocates violence, This raid could not be authorized as there is no
evidence to even suggest that a violation of any law has or will occur,
Additionally; if literature reflecting the group’s views can be obtained -
through other means, the raid would violate this directive’s requirement of
minimization procedures. Any search of nonpublic areas would also
violate the Fourth Amendment if performed without a warrant and in the

absence of consent or exigent cifcumstances,

New York City

The U.S. District Court in New Yoik City ruléd in February 2003 that

“fundamental changes in the thieats fo. public security” wartanted modifying

another long-standing court order that restricted the New York Police *
Department’s ability to conduct surveillance of political groups. A 1971 lawsui,
Handschu v. Special Services Division, charged harassment of political .
organizations by the New York Police Department’s “Red Squad.” In 1972 the

+ U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York held that the

department’s intelligence gathering operations involving political activists did

constitute injury by creating a chilling effect on First Amendment activities.

While noting that informers and infiltrators constituted valid techniques, the court.
placed restrictions on their use, After that decision the parties negotiated a consent
dectee known as the Handsdm Guidelines. :

The federal judge last year relaxed but did not terminate the Handschu

. Guidelines, indicating that the earlier agreement’s constitutional protections “aze
. tnchanging,” The court required the department to adopt internal guidelings, and
the department’s “Guidelines for Investigations Involving Political Activity” were
. issued fater in the year. According to the cover memorandum issued to all

commands in the department, “These guidelines eliminate many of the restrictions
of'the former Handschu Guidelines and provide the Department with the authority

- and flexibility necessary to conduct investigations involving political activity,

including terrorism investigations.”

Asis the case with the Chicago policies, the NYPD guidelines state that

. “matters investigated be confined fo those supported by a legitimate law

enforcement putpose” and may be initiated “in advance of unlawful conduct.”

- The “general principles” include:

 When, however, stateménts advocate unlaﬁvfu_l activity, or indicate an
. apparent intent to engage in valawful conduct, particularty acts of
violence, an invesﬁg_aﬁon utder these guidelines may be warranted, unless
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it is apparent, from the circumstances or the context in which the

statements are made, that there is no prospect of harm. '

The guidelines also stipulate that “investigations shall be terminated when
all logical leads have been exhausted and no legitimate law enforcement purpose
justifies their continuance.” ,

More recently, however, the same fedéral judge criticized the New York -
Police Department for interrogating war protesters and brought the départment’s
surveillance policies back under court review, - -

- The actions in Chicago and New Yotk City to modify consent decrees
dating to the 1970s that placed limits on police actions may represent a first step
toward loosening siinilar law enforcement regulations and oversight in other
cities. A draft of the federal Domestic Secarity Enhancement Act of 2003, also
known as “Patriot Act II” prepared for introduction in the U.S. Congress, includes

- a provision that would discontinue afl existing consent decregs that place limits on

police department surveillance of political organizations on the grounds that such

© restrictions impede terrorism investigations, )

The Coﬁgress acted in a similar fashion seversl years ago to reverss court

‘mandates governing conditions at correctional facilities, The Prison Litigation

Reform Act of 1996 which allows court orders addressing past practices that were
deemed to be unconstitutional to be lified unless a correctional facility continned

to viclate prisoners® constitutional rights. This was the case with regard to the

‘Central Detention Facility (the D.C, Tail) which had been uiider coust order for

years until the court oversight, including a population cap and annual heaith gud
sanitation inspections, ended as a result of the new federal law. If Congress :
enacts “Patriot Act IT” it-would have similar effect: dismantting court oversight of
police departments that were challenged in court in the past for violating First and -
Fourth Ammendment rights. . o o ,

Federal Activities/California Guidelines

The intersection of national anti-terrorist plamﬁﬁg and'acﬁo‘ns with local

.police practices with regard to demonstrations is evident in both a Federal Bureau

of Intelligence directive, and issuance of guidelines'on political surveillance
issued by the California attorney genetal. .

. An account in the November 23,2003, New York Times detailed a
memorandum sent to local law enforcement officials by the Federsl Bureaun of
Investigation, marking the first cotroboration of “a coordinated, nationwide effort
1o collect intelligence regarding demonstrations.” The memorandum, according to

the Times, urged local police to “be alert to these possible indieators of protest
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aotiv;ity aid report any potentially illegal acts” to the Bureau’s joint
counterterrorism task forces throughout the country,

One month earlier California Attorney General Bill Lockyer moved in a
diffesent direction and issued guidelines to police and sheriffs” offices throughout
the state recommending limits on law enforcement surveillance and infiltration of
political organizations, The guidelines, entitled “Criminal Intelligence Systems: A
California Perspective,” were a response to controversy and litigation that arose
from law enforcement actions targeting antiwar activities. One such event
occurred in Oakland on April 7, 2003 at the start of the war in Iraq. According to

+ press accounts, police.seeking to disperse demonstrators fired wooden dowel

projectiles, bean-bag rounds and other “less than lethal” ammunition into a crowd
of demonstrators at the Port of Oakland. : :

In June two lawsuits were filed in U.S. Disttict Court seeking monetary

~ damages and court ordered-policy changes to preclude such actions in the future. _

The American Civil Liberties Union claimed that the Oaldand Police Department -
took such drastic action against unarmed demonstrators based on information, -
provided by the California Antiterrorism Information Center within the state
attorney general’s office; which the ACLU contended was an illegal assault on
First Amendment rights. In response to the Oakland case and other instances in

-which local authorities apparently used “tips” from fhe state-level anti-terrorism

office agaiiist political activists, in October Lockyer issned the new guidelinesin
an apparent effort to draw “the appropriate balance between public safety and
fundamental rights such as free speech, assembly, and privacy.”
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) CONTEXT: S '
DEMONSTRATIONS IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUME

A copy of & general order dated October 24, 1863 from the Office of
Superintendent of Police in Washington, D.C. to the Sergeants of the force
announced an upcoming procession in the city.. The general order stated;

The whole thing is entirely new in our community, and fears have
been expressed that proper protection would not be accommodated
to those engaged, because of their being colored men. Iam very
desirous to show that their fears are unjust, and that in this District
all persons behaving themselves in an orderly manner will be
protected, and to this end you are hereby directed to place your
men on the beats along the line of the proposed procession, ih such
a way as to afford the most complete protection, and guard against
- any and every kind of disturbance!.

- This snapshot from the history of demonstrations in the nation’s capital is
illustrative of one of the Committee’ s most significant findings — that of history
repeating itself. Over many years, the District of Columbia has experienced the
¢bb and flow of judicial and legislative scrutiny of the police department and its
handling of First Amendment issues. In particular, the Fudiciary Commitiee’s

 investigation has raised constitutional issues concerning the handling of mass
‘demonstrations and the use of undercover officers to monitor political activists

that are almost identical to those that were examined by the courts and the

“Council during the Vietnarm war era thirty years ago. The following is a brief

summaty of this local historical context and how it relates to today’s debate.
Handling Mass Demonstrations

As noted earlier in this repoit, MPD Assistant Chief Alfred Broadbent

- testified that after the protests against the World Trade Organization in Seattle in
© 1999, “the face of demonstrations in this country changed forever.” This

sentirnent was repeated several times by MPD officials interviewed by the
Committee, iricluding Chief Charles Ramsey, who used anti-globalization

activists’ threats to “shut down the city” as a justification for why anti-

globalization demonstrations in‘recent years have demanded preemptive treatment
from MPD. - ' '

In fact, throughout its history, Washington, D.C. has hosted _
demonstratioris whose organizers have threatened to disrupt the city in different
ways, and in several instances, MPD’s reaction has tested the constifutionality of
ity policies and practices for handling mass demonstrations. As Lucy Barber,

1A copy of this'gengrél erder was provided to the Commitiee by Robert Klotz, former Deputy

* . Chief'of Police, Commandsr, Specisl Opetations and Fraffic Division.

18



The most obvious paralle] in recent history can be found in the May Day

demonstrations in 1971 that protested thé Vietnam wat, Prior o those -
demonstrations, organizers similarly threatened fo shut down and distupt the city

unreasonable periods of time under harsh and unsanitary conditions, In addition,
the police chief at the time suspended MPD’s use of the field arrest form, so
demonstrators were arrested without any documentation of the circumstances,
~ Costly and protracted lawsuits were filed against the city following the May Day
- atrests that alleged unconstitutional policies and practices, .

A review of the May Day era litigation reveals striking similarities

were “apparently a law abiding group and there was no indication there would be
any police problems at all really.” Two other officials also testified that there vas
1o violence before the establishment of the police lines. ‘

Nonetheless, Inspector Trussell “concluded there was justification for
establishing police lines due to the imminent danger of property damage and _
personal injury due to the influx of “outsiders” into the vigil tines.” He believed -

 that the “outsiders” were some of the samie anti-war demonstrators who were
responsible for destruction of property eatlier in the day at the Washington
. Monument, although he did not actually observe any of those arrested destroy any

Inspector Trussell acted with a reasonable belief of impending violeice such as to
- necessitate the imposition of police lines,” :
" Thirty-one years later, a similar réﬁon&le was given for approximately 400
- arrests made in Pershing Park duting a protest against the policies of the ‘
IMF/World Bank on September 27, 2002, Assigtant Chief Newshaui, who gave
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- law breaking,

the order to arrest that day, testified that althotgh the demonstrators in the park
were not violent or committing any property damage immediately prior to the
arrests, bie based the order on the fact that the demonstrators, as a general group,
did not have a permit, had broken windows sevefal blocks away eatlier in the
morning, and had then broken traffic laws on their way to the park, Yet Assistant -
Chief Newsham could not be sure that all of the individuals arrested in Pershing

- Park were responsible for the earlier violations of law. In the end, he gave the

order out of concert over what the demonstrators would have done had they been
allowed out of the park. The following is an excetpt from Assistant Chief

- Newsham’s deposition before the Committee:

Another thing that was weighing heavily on my mind when I made
that decision was the intelligence that I received that this particular
.group was intent on doing destructive things. I felt that if they
were able to leave the park I think they would have gone out and.
did some of these things because of their behavior before entering
the park, - : ' T :

. As discussed in more detail later in this report, an MPD interna]
investigation subsequently found that the Perstiing Park atrests were made in
violation of MPD policy and that bystanders not even involved in the
demonstrations were arvested that day, The District has initiated settlement

discussions in some of the lawsuits filed against the city over the Pershing Park
arrests. ' ‘ -

- This comparison between the Tatum case and Pershing Park arrests is
helpfiil in making the point that the courts have repeatedly found that -
demionstrators cannot be atrested based on what police may fear is a potential for

" The courts hdve also reviewed MPD policy and practice in handling
demonstrations more broadly, In the-case Washington Mobilization Committee, et
alv. Maurice J. Cullinane, et al, in 1974, the U.S, District Court found severa]
aspects of MPD’s handling of the May Day demonstrations to be unconstitutional
and took particular exception to the department’s use of a police line ordinance to
disperse crowds: It found the ordifiance “unconstitutional as applied to
demonstration activities in which First Amendment rights aré being asserted.”

. The ordinance (Article VI Sectiofn 5 (a) of the Pﬁh’pe Regulations of the
District of Columbia) includes language that “every person present at the scene of
such occasion shall comply with any necessary order or instruction of any police

- officer.” The coutt noted, “the scope of the ordinance is expansive, to say the

least. Limits on police discretion are virtually nonexistent.” It gave a police
officer “unfettered discretion to issne any order he thinks reasonable and then is

. allowed to initiate criminal proceedings against a person who disobeys the ordet,” -
-and harkened to Justice Hugo Black’s concurtence in Gregory v. Chicago, “to et
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~ apoliceman’s command becotme equivalent to a criminal stafute comes
dangerously near making our government one of men rather thaa laws,”

_ The Court enjoined the department from erectitig police lines and
initiating sweeps of areas during demonstrations “until the police department or

- the District of Columbia government specifies the scope and limits on the
department’s power to clear a public ares, sufficient to iriform both the police and
the public of their responsibilities.” In addition: -

*  MPD was “enjoined from attempting to regulate the conduct of persons
exercising their First Amendment rights by ordering them to ‘move on’
unless a breach of the peace involving a substantial risk of violence has
occurred or will ocour™; ) ' :

¢ MPD was “enjoined from instituting mass arrests without the

. contemporaneous completion of field arrest forms or other administrative
-device or procedure for recording information necessary to establish
probable canse for the arrest™; :

The Court also:

" e Otdered all refevant arrest records destrayed;
Tuvalidated all the May Day arresis; and ~ o :
* Ordered MPD to formulate a “comprehensive, written plan (preferably in .
the form of a manval or handbook) which clearly states the policies and
procedures to be followed by the police department in mass demonstration

situations.™

Other points made in the 1974 U.S, District Court decision that resonate
today: ‘

+  “Ciiticism of police activities originating from outside the degartment is
handled in a variety of ways. Information critical of the CDU” which is
presented by the news media or litigation is never made the subject of an

-internal, disciplinary investigation,” a-point made in testimony by Police
Chief Jerry Wilson on April 8, 1974, o

-+ Withregard to charges of disordetly conduct, the Court said, “The fact
~ that police officers sometimes seem to be unwilling to enforce these laws
in a proper mannet does not necessitate the conclusion that thelawisso . .
- poorly drafted as to be incapable of constitutional application.” The Office
of Citizen Complaint Review just recently took the MPD to task for
making charges of disordetly conduct when the elements necessaty, under
" law, had not been met. - - : '

2 400 R Supp 186, 218-219
3 Civil disturbance unt

21,



* The Court revisited the issue of whether arvofficer acting in good faith
Serves to nullify any other wrong in an atrest. “The mere assettion of good
faith by an arresting officer does not obviate the need t¢ also prove the
reasonableness of his belief that his actions were constitutional.”

After a three-judge panel of the U.S. Court of Appeals reversed the District
Coutt’s ruling, plaintiffs in the case challenged the action, asking the fill nine-

+ member U.S. Court of Appeals to rehear the case and to reinstate the District

Court’s ruling. In a September 1977 decision, five of the nine Jjudges issued
opinions taking issue with some aspects of the three-judge panel’s reversal.

* Rather than having a rehearing, however, they decided to rely on new leadership

at MPD to change its mass demonstration policies and practices

Judge Bazelon concurred with many if not most of the U.S. District

- Court’s findings, including “its unchallenged findings that the police used

excessive force and made unlawful atrests” which were “mote than sufficient
grounds for the injunctive relief it ordered.” :

Bazelon and Levanthal directed scathing ctiticism toward the leadership of
the MPD, citing the lower court ruling, “These findings of the District Court
amply support its crucial factual conclusion that “many examples of misconduct
by CDU and PCC officers were the direct result of policies and procedures
authorized by defendants and of defendants’ fiilure adequately to train, supervise
and.coordinate the activities of subordinates,” Bazelon wiote. He also noted that

. the case concerned police misconduct in handling demonstrations and that “there
“ig’likely to be a chilling effect on individuals’ protest activities unless the police

are resirained from similar miscondsict in thé futute.” Levanthal said the case
“presented evidence of either participation by the police chief and supervising -

‘officials or knowing toleration of misconduct.”

"The Court songht to explain its decision to deny a new hearing while .
essentially concurring that the Department should move forwatd with reformis,

Judge Leventhal wrote:

Whether to exercise en banc discretion is partieularly likely to turn
- on whether recurrent problems are visualized. With indications
that the police department has been advancing its low-key '
“approach, and with the reasonable expectation that it will reflect on
thie various decisions involving mass arrests, it makes sense on
prudential grounds to let the smoke clear so far as the court en
bane is concerned. : '
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Jhdge Bazelon noted;

Although I agree with Judge Leventhal that the proposed police

- manual may not be able to guarantee appropriate police behavior
when ‘coping with a massive shutdown effort,” this limitation isno
Justification for vacating the District Court’s order, Without
written policies, there is even less hope that the Civil Disturbance
Unit will avoid these same errors in the future”...

F oliowing this decision, in J anuary 1978, MPD issued a handbook on -
mass demonstrations. The Committee has reviewed several versions of the

manual that have been produced since 1978, and the same handb_ook,‘designed to

respond to the concerns of the courts in the mid-1970s, are essentially in effect
today, ' '

In the 22 years following issuance of the manual, MPD handled fhousands
of demonstrations without major controversy and, in the process, gained an

. intenational reputation for handling demonstrations well, without incident or civil

distusbances. Among the more provocative demonstrations handied by MPD

o during this time were a group of fatmers who drove their tractors around the

Capitol and parked them on the Mall in 1978 “iri defiance of traffic regulations™;’

- egular anti-abortion marches that atiract counter marches; a Kn Klux Klan march
1 in1991; and the Miltion Man Mazch on the Mall in 1995. Bach of these events

caused anxiety within government and the communify over the potential for

«disruption or violence, real or perceived, but each was handled withont mags

arrests ormajor controversy. A review of court records over this time period

~reveals no litigation filed against the District over MPD’s handling of
- demonstrations prior to the April 2000 anti-globalization demonstrations.

- After the demonsirations against the World Trade Organization ia Seattle
in Novembeér 1999, MPD’s handling of anti-globalization demonstrations would -

© bring about a new era of critical opinion of MPD’s performance in this area; harsh

The Committee’s review of MPD's current use of undercover officers to
conduct surveillance of political activists also has 5 historic precedent, In 1975,
the Washington Post reported that during the late 1960s and early 1970s, MPD
used undercover officers to monitor and keep files on local political activists and

politicians, including fotmer Councitmerabers Mation Barry, Julius Hobson and

4566 F 24 107 : S '
© ¥, 224, gy Batber, Marching on Washington: the Rorging of an American Polifical Tradition,
2002 . . C -
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Sterling Tucker and former D.C, Delegate to Congress Walter Fauntroy.® An
ubnamed solirce of the Post claim, that undercover agents sought details on
activists’ sexual habits, drug use and finances, A former police informant
reported that he wasg instructed to act as an agent provocateur and to steaf mail,
break into buildings, and “disrupt legitimate demonstrations of the anti-war
movement.”’ Police officials at the time admitted to the surveillance but denied
that agents recorded information about activists’ personal lives or engaged in
illegal activity, and said that all-of the questionable files were shredded,

A civil action, Hobson v. Wilson, was filed against the Dfstrict and MPD

by éeveral Washington-area protestors alleging that members of the MPD

Intelligence Division served as agents provocateur as part of a joint FBE-MPD
conspiracy, in furtherance of its stated mission to gather information on “persons,
groups, and organizations whose activities might be dettimental to the proper
fanctioning of local, state or national governments.” In a 1984 decision, the D.C
Court of Appeals overturned a lower court ruling by finding that there was
insufficient evidence that the MPD or the District of Cotumbia Participated in a
conspiracy to violate plaintiff’ constitutional rights either within MPD itself or
between MPD and the FBI. - The court did affirm liability against the FBI, ruling
that theré was enough evidence that the FB[ actively participated in unlawfiy
COINTELPRO activities to justify the lower court’s finding of liability, and noted

four categories of illegal activity on the part of the FBL

. Tucker introduced Bili 1-76, “the Police Intelligence Safeguards Act of 1975,”
_which established a temporary Police Intelligence Policy Commission to conduct

a-review of the policies and procedures employed by MPD for intelligence
gathering activities and recommend to the Council new guidelines as it deemed
necessary. The bill also prohibited three classes of information from being
mgintained by MPD on individuals, including non-criminal personal information,
financial information and any information related to political, religious or social
views, It also allowed individuals to request to review MPD files on themselves,

Councilmember Fuliiis Hobson infroduced Bill 1-287, “the Non Criminal

Police Surveillance Act of 1976,” which defined “unlawful surveillance,”

proseribed limitations on the interception of conversations, and prohibited any
oificial or agent of the District from disrupting fawful activities or inciting others
to engage in wilawful activities. It provided'a cause of action for anyone injured
by a violation of the legislation. ) .

| Councilmember Hobson then introduced Bill 1-3 62, “the Police Records

Act 0f 1976.” This act attempted to control what types of records MPD could

-- - “Biles on Politicians I{ept, Police Admit,” The Waskington Post, February 13, 1975
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maintain and disseminate and established g Records Review Board, charged with
enforcing limitatiops on police records-keeping practices throngh Semi-annual -

anditing procedures; promulgating regulations; and making dcterminations on
whether individuals shonld be able to review records about themselves unlegs

* there was clear and convincing evidence that such inspection would threaten the
- integrity of an ongoing investigation,

All three bills were criticized by law enforcement and some provisions

- were even ctiticized by the local chapter of the ACLU as unworkable and too

broadly written, According to press Ieports, in response fo-the controversy, then

‘ Duﬁng the course ofits curtent.investigation, the Fudiciary Committee

subpoenaed any current or former general orders that may bave been related to the

1976 Cullinane general order, but MPD responded that no such policies could be
located, ' The Committee can only assume that the Cullinane order was at some
poiatrepealed by MPD. Itonically, the Washington Post, while commending the
issuance of the general order, warned of this possibility at the timme, In g J uly 23,
1976 editorial, the Post noted: - )

There are, of course, limits to the foree of any internal directive,
even one that attempts to speil out policies and officers’
- obligatidns so carefilly, For one thing, an order is not a law; jts
weight depends almost entirely on the chief’s commitment and the
 department’s ability to police itself Future commanders could

change or igniore the rules at any time®,
© Anothier editorial expressed a similar sentiment: _
" There will be, no dovibt, trouble again some time.in the future with -

police intelligence operations, .. with the passage of time, some of
the lessons learned from the last decade will be forgotten. But, it

offorts into places where they can be more productive and less
troublesome. The real test is whether the community pays enough

d “Controlling Pofice. Suivqﬂlance,” The Wésﬁz‘ngton Fost, July 23, i976
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attention to make sure that shift is completed and, once completed,
maintained’,

. In the 19705, both the courts and the Counoil discovered serious problems
with MPLY’s handling of iraportant issues related to First Amendment activity -
primarily its handling of mass demonsirations and ifs undercover surveillance of
political activists. In each instance, following debate and consideration of the _
issues, discretion was left to MPD to fix problems internally and to self-regulate.

- With the passage of time, it seems that critical and hard-learned lessons were

indeed forgotten, Considering the District’s history in this area and the. Increasing

_threats to civil liberties across the nation caused by post-September 11 local and

federal security policies, now, more than ever, the Council has a responsibility to
act, through both oversight and legislation, '

9 “Intelligenice Work and the District Police,” The thaéhingfan Post, March 14,1975
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IIL. CASE STUDY: APRIL 2000 AND THE CONVERGENCE CENTER

In April 2000, thousands of demonstrators converged on Washington,
D.C. for a weekend of protests against the policies of the International Monetary -

- Fund and World Bank, Since this was the first major anti-globalization -

dembonstration since the November 1999 meetings of the World Trade
Organization in Seattle, there was nuch concern expressed by District
government officials, law enforcement, and residents, about the potential for -
violence in the District similar to that experienced in Seattle. The Metropolitan
Police Department responded to this concern by preparing for the IMF-World
Bank meetings for months in advance, seeking and securing significant federal
funding for security including a closed-circnit television system, getting
manpower assistance from other police departments, asking the courts to be
prepared for mass arrests, and by mobilizing the entire department.

On Saturday, Aﬁril 15, 2000, the day before the latgest scheduled anti-
globalization demonstration, Fire and Emergency Medical Services (FEMS)
officials and MPD officers entered: the headguarters, or “convergence cenfer,” of

the anti-globalization organizations at 1328 Florida Avenne, N.W.; issued

multiple fire code violation notices; and closed down the center, ordering all of
the individuals inside to vacate the premises, This raid of the convergence center

~ disrupted the organizational plans of the demonstrators and displaced many anti-

globalization activists from out of town who were staying at the center while
Visiting the District. : Ce

Den:zons{:tai‘,ors-,as well as some residents criticized the District’s actions at -
the convergence center, and accused MPD gf orcheéstrating the event for the

- putpose of frustrating the constitutional rights of the denionsirators, An April 16,

2000 New York Times article, “Police Move Againgt Trade Demonstrators,”

. haracterized the raid-as “a pre-emptive show of force.” Councilmember

Patterson, joined by Councilmember Fim Graham, wrote to Council Chair Lindg
Cropp and Judiciary Chairman Harold Brazil fo request an oversight hearing on
the police actions. In April, 2001, a lawsuit' was filed against the Disfrict of
Columbia that included allegations that the District’s actions at the convergence
center were uncongstitutionial, ' ' s

The Committee examined the convergeﬁce centér taid as a case study of
MPD’s policies and practices in handling demonstrations, patticulacly its practices

+ with respect to intelligence tactics: The Committee subpoeanaed documents

related to the raid on the convergence center and deposed four individuals; FEMS
Chief Adrian Thompson, FEMS Deputy Chief James N. Short; MPD contract

_ employse Neil Trugman, and Intelligence Unit Sergeant Jeffrey Madison, In
~April 2000, Chief Thompson was the Fire Magshall, Deputy Chief Shott wis a,

Battalion Chief and Assistant Fire Marshall with the Fire Prevention Division,

. Alliince for Global Justice, et ol v. District of Colsmbia, et al
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- Commitiee,

Neil Trugman was a detective assigned to MPD's Intelligence Unit, and Sgt.
Madison was, as he is now, a supervisor assigned to MPD’s Intelligence Unit,

The fdllowing is a chronology of the events leading up to and during the
1aid on the convetgence center, based on the information collected by the

: Dun’ﬁg the week prior to the IMF-World Bank meetings, Chief Ramsey
and then-Executive Assistant Chief. (BAC) Terrance Gainer provided a briefing

- for Councilmembers and staff on plans for addressing public safefy concerns

associated with the meetings and demonstrations. The department, in conjunction
with the two international organizations and the federal government, essentially

. Seaitle the previous Decemb er, and voiced their own determination that such.

events would not take place in the District of Columbia, _

Chief Ramsey told the Wésﬁington Post on April 8, 2000, “Tﬁéy ain’t
buraing our city like they did Seattle.” Three days later Assistant Executive Chief
Terrance Gainer told the Post, “Arrests will be quick, swift and certain, We won’t

. be caught sleeping.”

.Dun'ng the days leading up to the JMF-World Bank weekend, MPDY

~ monitored the convergence center. An April 3, 2000 memo from Intelligence Unit -

Lieutenant Lorraine Kittrelf to Chief Ramsey described, in minute detail, the

* layout of the convergence center, a schedule and description of the events that

were to take place fiom April 8 to April 15, and information about the ownership
of the building, g i

Accbrding to the testimony of Mr. Trugman, during the course of this
monitoting, MPD became concerned about potentially bazardous oondiﬁops

~ inside the onvergence center, including the presence of propane tanks,
- demonstrators sleeping on staircases, and over-crowding, He indieated that MPD

discussed securing a search warrant of the premises. Mr: Trugman was asked in

.his deposition if he had reason to believe there was illegal activity at the center,.

and he said there were “bits and pieces” of information,

Q: Itake it that you did not have enotgh to get a warrant to go
into the convergence center.. Is that correct? -

A: 1 think we did.

Q: But as far as ydu kiow, no one étb_empted to get a warrant to go
info the convergence center, did they? .
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‘A: 'm ~ I think there may have been discussions with the U.8,
Attorney’s office, and they were not going to go ahead with a
search warrant,

Apj}ércntly it was decided that the department did not have 'suﬁicient-
cause to-secure a search wartant,. MPD officials turned fo potential administrative

 actions. The department invited tepresentatives of FEMS, including Deputy Chief

Short, to a meeting on or about April 13, 2000, Sergeairt Madison and Mr.
Trugman participated in this meeting, .

During the meefing, MPD officials showed Deputy Chief Short_ news
media videotape footage of the conditions inside the convergence center,

~ including footage of propane tanks and, according to Deputy Chief Short, “a large

number of people in a very small area inside the building.” Deputy Chief Short
was asked if he saw anything impropert in the video footage and he stated that
what he saw was “not allowed under the Fire Code.” After seeing these
violations, he stated that he “had to tike some action” and it was decided within
the fire department that the District’s Nuisance Abatement Task Force'! would
conduct an inspection of the building, . - : o :

: It was not, however, until at least two days later, on the morning on April
15, 2000, that Deputy Chief Short conducted the inspection with FEMS Captain
Richard Fleming, fire inspector Ronnie Elam, a Department of Consumer and
Regulatory Affairs (DCRA) inspector, and a Department of Public Works {(DPW)
inspector, There is a discrepancy in testimonty on whether the Task Force entered

‘the building simultaneously with members of the MPD. According to the
. Qeposition testimony of Deputy Chief Short, Mr. Trugman and Sgt, Madison,

MPD did not esiter the building until Deputy Chief Short became concerned that
the demonstrators were not clearing out of the property or abating the fire code -
violations noted by the Task Force, Deputy Chief Short testified that “a great deal

oftime passed between the initial being allowed to come in and conduct the
inspection until the police officers that I saw were on the scene.” '

In apparent contradiction to that statement, videotape viewed by the
Committee cleariy shows MPD officets, inthuding Sgt. Madison and Mr.
Trugman, entering the building at 8:45 a.m. Chief Thompson’s written deposition
states that the Task Force entered the building at 8:45 a.m. Deputy Chief Short
Yestified during his deposition that the time was cither 8 a.m. ot 8:45 a.m. and he
catld not be sure of the exact time, o ' '

MPD intefligence officers, including Sgt. Madison.and My Trugman,
were aware that the inspection wags taking place and were on-hand to respond to

M The Nuisance Abatement Task Foree is an inter-agenby task fosce, twically mads up of
representatives of multiple agencies, including MPD, DCRA, DPW and FEMS, that condnots

_ simuitaz_leoua housing, fire and code inspections of buildings.
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any request for assistance from the Task Force, The fbllowing is an excerpt of
Mr. Trugman’s testimony on this point; :

A: Iknow that they went in — they went into the building fitst, and
if they needed our help, they were going to call for our help, and

- weresponded after the call, We didn’t go in with the fire
* department, L

" Q: The timing is such that it appears as though the MPD knew
when the fire department was going in. Is that correct?

A: Yes, we did know.

Q: So, it wasn’t as if you were sort of out there and then suddenly
you got this call, can you come over and help us? '

A: No. We knew when they were going to go in,

Depi-:ty Chief Short and Chief- Thompson festified that upon entering the

building, the Task Force foirnd hazardous conditions inside, including
overcrowded conditions, itiproper use of propane tanks for cooking purposes,

' make-shift electrical wiring, improper storage near exits and in stairways blocking

- egress, and storage of large quantities of paint and bedding materials in wtility

areas. When describing the scene and his attempts to clear demonstrators out of
the building, Deputy Chief Short estified: -

I would say to them, this is a very dangerous situation and if you
don’t shut down the cooking, the propane, then someone could die
- inhere. It’s imminent danger.  Propane explosions are some of the
most dangerous in the world. And when you have over 100
- pounds in close proximity within side of 4 building, it wouldn’t
take much to melt the building, _

Several fire code violation noices were issued to the owner of the building,
Douglas Development Corporation'?, and the demonstrators were cleared out of
the building by 12:30 p.m. '

The Committee soizghf clatification on the role of the MPD’s Intelligence

Uit in closing down the convergence center. Fire officials acknowledged that the

presence of intelligence officers at a building inspection was highly unusual, Tn

2 o Apn] 17, 2000 letter from Douglas Development Cotp. to Chief Thompson stated,

“Diouglas Development Cotp was led to believe that several non-profit groups were organizing a .
training workshop for puppet making, and allowed at no cost a spbleage of the space for a two-
woek period. We aro optraged at this gross.mistepresentation and-can assure you ihat, has we

" been aware of the true motives of this group, we would never have permitted their assembly at any
of our properties.” - ’ ' ' : :
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response to the Committee’s October 16, 2003 written depogition question, “Do
MPD Intelligence Unit officers typically accompany Fire and Emergency Medical
- Services Department inspectors during inspections? If yes, under what - _
circumstances?,” Chief Thompson stated “To my knowledge no MPD intelligence
unit officers accompany Fire and Emergency Medical Services Department
inspectors during fire inspections,” Deputy Chief Short was also asked this
question during his deposition: - ' -

- Q: Would it be unusual to have intelligence officers accompany
you or be [present] at a place when you [are} conducting an
inspection? ~

Al Very unysual,
- As indicated above, Mr. Trugman testified that MPD initially wanted a

search wartant to look: for items such as molotov cocktails or sleeping dragons --

none of which was found on the premises —but did not have probable cause to
obtain a search warrant, The next question became what putpose was served by
intelligence unit members being on hand for the fire inspection. Had there been a

 concern about public safety generally, the normal course would have been use of

As stated above, Deputy Chief Short festified that he only called MPD
officers to the scene to get assistance with clearing the building, Sgt. Madison
also testified that he responded to the convergence center out of concern for the
safety of the inspectors. Buf this version of svents is not consistent with Mr,

Trugman’s testimony that intelligence officers entered the building with the -
specific intent of looking for illegal activity, - o )

The foliowing is an excerpt of the transcript of M. ‘Trugman’s deposition

ori both the issue of the watrant and MPD’s intentions upon entering the building: -

Q: And when you were 611 the scene, what was... the purpose of

intelligence officers being on the scene with the fire depariment to.
conduct a fire inspection? . .

A: To make sure there was no illegal activity going on inside that
was going to become a police concern,

‘ Q: Did ybu have reason to believe there would be illegal activity
inside? . . :

A: 'We had information that was — there was a lot of bits and
pieces, and one of them wag a thing called sleeping deagons, which
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.18 useci to block streets, possible molotoy _c'ocktails; things of that |
nature. : :

Q: Now, prior to going info the convergence center, though,

. apparently you had enough information for 2 specific house to
actually get a warrant to go in to get certain pipes and things to

- make these sleeping dragons, what-have-yon. But I take it that you

did not have enough to get a warrant to go into the convergence

center. Is that correct? : '

" Al T think we did.

'Q: But as far as you know, noone attempted to get a warrant to go
into the convergetico center, did they?

" Al Pm -~ I think tliere may have been discussions with the 1.,
Attorney’s office, and they were not going to go ahead with a
search warraot, '

Q: So then your entry into the convergence ceitter was sort of ‘
detivative on the entry by the fire department. Is that right?

A Wéll, it’s also because it was a severe safety hazard. I mean, it would
have been tragic with all these kids in that place smoking cigarettes, ..

. A:'We were also aware of what to look for, We were there to look for
molotov cocktails, if there were - excuse me —if there were any, sleeping

* dragons, which was totally new to this area, And a lot of the officers, no
matter how you can describe theni, may have not known what they were

- looking for,

- Q: Did vou find any?

A: Not in that building,

Q: Novlv, when you say that the intelfigence unit was there because they
could, you know, have a look at — for certain of these ttems, I take it that is
something you were hoping to do via a seaich warrant, right?

“A: Correct, - |

Q: But having failed to get the search warrant, this was the second best
way to have a look? '

At Well, this actually turned out to be the best way for s&féty.
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The asgertion that MPD intelligence officery arrived at the convergence
center for the purpose of collecting information on demonstrators is further
bolstered by some of their actions once they arrived, In response to a subpoena

_issued to MPD, the Committee obtained a videotape containing footage taken by

MPD intelligence officers duting the inspection of the convergence center,” At
sevetal points during the video, the camera pans over crowds of demonstrators,
inside and outside of the building, at times Zooming in on individuals. At another
poitit on the tape, for approximately 20 minutes, the camera zZooms in on, and
scans, the entirety of a bulletin board containing political posters and fliers as well
as hand-written personal notes containing the names, phone numbers and other
personal information presumably on demonstrators who used the center’s bulletin
board as an information exchange, '

In his deposition testimony, Mr, Trugman suggested that the purpose of .
the footage was to cross reference the names of anyone who had been
“troublemakers™ in other cities, like Seattle, with the names of the people

- attending the demonstrations in Washington:

Q: So that was patt of the intelligence that you would gather in
those circumstances? '

A: Exacily. Néw, was information gathered from that? ¥ don’t
remember any., ? : :

" Sgt. Madison testified that the videotape was taken by an Electronic -
Surveillance Unit (BSU) officer who usually accompanies. MPD on drug-related
search warranis issued pursaant to 2 criminal investigation. Th those instances fhe
ESU’s typical practice is to collect as much information from a scene as possible;

- for example, information about suspected drug dealers and their acquaintances,
-Sgt. Madison testified that the convergence center videotape was not used, or

possibly not even watched, for any purpose after the inspection of the

onyergence center, Craig Broyles, a-civilian analyst assigned to the Intelligence
Unit, also testified that the unit did nothing with the information contained on the -
Videotape. In response to questions gbout this practice duzing the public hearing,
Chief Ramsey stated thiat “the taping of that bulletin board was not necessary. It

- was regrottable.” Asked specifically if the tape had been given to other Iaw -

enforcement authorities such as the Federal Buiegu of Investigation, Ramsey

. assured the Cominittee that it had not, -

Two docﬁments obtained b:}ﬁxé 'Committee underscore the contention that

the convergence ceniter raid was an MPD law enforcement operation designed to
thwart the activities of the demonstrators, and has continued to be viewed in that

. manner by District officials. The Committee issued a subpoena to the Fire
. Department for any documents relative to 1328 Florida Avenue, N,W, and, in

response, received a document labeled “DC Fire Department Real Estate Property

~ Profile.” The document contains the following statement: ~ - .
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On 4/15/00, the NATF [nuisatice abatement task force] closed this
building down due to numerous fire code violations, This was
IMF Protestors Headquarters. The closing of this building helped
asgist MPD with the rioters during the IMF Talks, This location
was the main headquarters for the IMF protestors, Removal-of
propane tanks and other iflegal weapons', help stop a repest of
Seattle, Washington, :

Deputy Chief Short, when asked about the document, responded, “I do not have

an answer on. that; I actually do not know who that was.” Nonetheless, the.
connection between the fire inspection, the closing of the center, and the intent to
assist MPD’s law enforcement efforts is clea, : :

. The second item is a document attached to the original complaint filed by
plaintiffs in Aliance for Global Justice, et af v. District of Columbia, et al. The -
dociment is 2 memorandum from MPD employee Steve Gaffigan, Senior
Execntive Director for Quality Assurance, to SRB Productions, a television and
video production company, outlining a prospective MPD training video relevant
to handling demonstrations. The memo states, “We-will then go on to look at the
footage of MPD’s Intelligence Unit shutting down the convergence center duting
the 2000 IMF protests, finding bottles with rags. We will explain the significance
of such a'tactic,” _ : _ B

This statement regarding “bottles and rags” brings up another and final
issueregarding the convergence cenfer inspection. After the inspection, Clijef

" Ramsey and Executive Assistant Chief Gainer claimed to have confiscated

materials to make pepper spray and molotov cocktails™ statements not
corroborated in the Fire/BMS records on materials actually recovered at the -
convergence center. No one inferviewed by the Commiittee up to and including
the police and fire chiéfs testified that any illegal ot oriminal items were found at

the convergence center. I is regrettable that the opposite was reported externally
and internally by MPI> officials. - o

: f&'ndings

--Actions taken by the Metropolitan Police Department and Fire and

Emergency Medical Services Department ta close the convergence center the
day of the anti-globalization demonstrations violate prohibitions on

- infringement of free speech.

B Ascording to the withesses interviewed by the Committes, no illegal weapons were found in the
ootivergence center, e .. -

* During an April 17, 2000 television story by The News with Brian Williams, Chief Ramsey
stated “They were making homemade Pepper spray,” An Aptil 15, 2000 Associated Press stoty
reported “officers seized a plastio container with arag stuffed iside and what logked like a wick,

" said executive assistant chief Terry Gainer. He said # ‘looks like a Molotov cockiail.”
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* The circumstances surrounding the inspectic;n of the convergence center

raise serious questions as to whether the action was a pretextual criminal lavy
enforcemment search in violation of the Fourth Amendment,

The agencies effecﬁvely closed down the convergence center not primarily for

- public safety reasons, but for other reasons that presumably include distupting the

planned demonstrations and secuting, for law enforcement purposes, information
on those participating in the demonstrations. The center posed a danger to
inhabitants or.it did not; if it did present imminent danger, as Deputy Short
testified, it should have been closed immediately when officials first noticed the
violations, The time allowed to lapse between the meeting attended by MPD and
FEMS and the actual raid belies that there was, in fact, a public safety concern,

In addition, the District shovld have given the activists 24 hours to abate the fire
code violations and refturn to the center, prior to th_e largest scheduled anti-

-globalization demonstrations, Failure tg do so supports the contention of Litigants

that the raid was designed to frustrate the operations of the activist organizations,

something clearly prohibited by First Amendment brofections.

An MPD videotape taken during the convergence ceriter raid highlighted
names, plione numbers, and addresses of individuals Participating in the
anti-globalization activities. While the videotape may have heen within legal
houndaries Pertaining to information ix plain and public view, ity existence

" and naintenance raise additional questions about police initent in terms of

surveillance of protected polifical activities,
MPD officials provided errenecus and misleading infoi‘maﬁﬁn to the public

. oncerning what was found and confiscated at the convergence center, in a

manner that suggests an attempt to characterize den_lonétrators as prone to

- violence,
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_ CASE STUDY: THE 2001 INAUGURATION, PEPPER SPRAY, AND
MPD SELF-POLICING _

The January 29, 2001, issye of the L4 Weekly, an alternative newspaléer'
published in Los Angeles, included this description from along the parade route in

_ Washington D.C, on Inauguration Day, 2001;

Two undercover cops, who had been posing as parade-goers, began
grabbing randomly at people, one of them spraying protesters in the face
with a small canister of efther Pepper spray or Mace. Both were o
tnmediately mobbed by the cfowd, and had to be pulled to safety by
uniformed officers in riot gear. o

A Washington Post Style section piece profiling Mara Verheyden-Hilliard
and Carl Messineo, lawyers and founders of the Partnership for Civil Justice,
includes this variation on the incidens: _ S

Two men in street clothes -- one wearing a black ski magk -- were
captured on amateur videotape roaming through the inauguration crowd,
They shove bystanders and one Pepper-sprays people seemingly at
random. After two years of pressing by the Partnership, the District

. acknowledged the men were on-duty police officers. One has admitted

- pepper-spraying, but both deny anything they did was improper. .

105 through 113, follow: - SR

Undercover agenits, who declined to identify themselves as law

enforcement, at times struck into the crowd, beating people with their fists
and radios. Protesters repeatedly asked, “Are you cops” of the government _
agents who were beating their associates with batons and fists, The ' ;
government agents declined to answer. - ' - - S

After what appeared to be a signal by a uniformed officer, a team of three
undercover operatives manenvered themselves into a ctowd of peaceful
demonstrators, One wore a black ski mask. Two of the agents began, .
withont explanation or justification or provocation, to beat and spraya \ o
~ chemical agent, presumably pepper spray, onto the faces of the peaceful , : i
Petsons assenibled there. The third agent followed behind, providing .

protection to the other two. -
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PlaintiffElizabeth Ayer was standing by peacefully, when one of the
agents came up to her and pulled off a muffler she wag wearing. He
punched her. He then sprayed her face and mouth with pepper spray at
close range.

These agents wandered freely, without intervention from law enforcement,
spraying pepper spray in wide circular berths in the faces of the peaceful
protesters, and siriking others, The peaceful protesters ran in terror, yelling
warnings that undercovers were using bepper spray. The agents continued

. to strike forward into crowds of persons standing by, spraying the ,
chemical agent into protesters’ faces. This continued for some period of
time, after which a uniformed officer engaged the agents in a mock arrest.
The yniformed police subsequently released the agents who were later

- observed wandering freely among crowds of protesters,

, .- The officer who used peppér spray.along the inaugural parade route was

MPD Tuvestigator Patrick Cumba working in plain clothes that day for the

Intelligence Unit. The lawsuit desctibing the pepper spray incident was amended

on October 11, 2002, with Investigator Cumba and his Inaugaration Day partner,

" Detective Jed Worrell, and fheir immediate superiors, named as additional -
defendants. - : ' _ '

‘The amended filing added this information:

10. Defendants Cumba and Worrell deliberately concealed their identities
from plaintiffs, Both dressed in plain clothes for the assaulis, .
notwithstanding being on official MPD duty. Neither displayed any badge,
name tag or other insignia publicly identifying fhem to be' government . |

‘agents or MPD officers. Officer Patrick A Cumba concealed his identify -

-~ (and increased the psychological fear of his assault) by wearing a hood -

“aid a balaclava — a black gki mask concealing afl but his eyes and bridge.
of his nose. Officer Jed Worrell also wore a hood and additionally
concealed his characteristics with a full head hat pulled down low to his
eyes. To date, neither has come forward notwithstanding this lawsuit,

. In response to being named a defendant in the lawsuit, Investigator Camba
* provided the following answer to the amended complaint, which was filed with

- the federal conrt on January 17, 2003

8. Defenidant Camba admits thdt on January 20, 2601, hediduse a
chemical agent known as pepper spray while in the area of the Navy
Memorial but denies thiat he uged pepper spray as described in this -

-paragraph of the second amended complaint,

All of the other allegations against the officers were denied in the January
2001 filing, SRR s . :




. Nearly two years afier the Inauguration and 22 months afier the lawsuis
was filed alleging the pepper spray incident, the MPD Office of Professionai _
. Responsibility initiated an investigation of the officer’s actions that day. The OPR
Force Investigation Team interviewed Investigator Cumba on December 12,
2002, : _

The MPD lead investigator, Detective Elisa Brown, interviewed
Investigator Cumba and Detectivé Jed Worrell. Investigators spoke to the
plaintiffs’ attorney, Verhayden-Hilliard, but did not interview the plaintiffy
becanse, the report states, the plaintiffs’ attorney would not permit the interviews,
Nor did the investigators interview anyone else on hand at the Navy Memorial on
inauguration day, which included representatives of the U.S. Park Police, several
Petsons interviewed by the news media including The Washington Post, and
individuals who subsequently wrote to The Washington Post about what they saw .
and heard at the Navy Memoridl. The investigators indicated that they were
umnable to talk with Cumba’s Supetior, retired Sgt. James Staples because he did
not respond to a letter sent to his Forestville, Md., home address, '

The MPD report on the investigation indicates that Defective Brown
Vviewed the protester’s videotape, That tape, also shown during the Committee’s
December 17 heating, shows Investigator Cumba wearing dark warm-up pants
and a black and orange coat striding through the crowd along the parade route,
Uniformed police officers are plentiful in and alongside the crowd. Cumba’s face -

- . 1s hidden by a black ski mask and a white hood. Though the picture is slanted and

jeiky, it clearly shows Cumba olding a can in his right hand. He js seen walking
thrqugh the crowd, and he shoves someone out of his way to his Ieft. In two series
-of shots he appears to hold the can and spray its contents at other persons in the

time is there any indication that the officer announced he was a police officer, as
is required by department policy (MPD general order 308, 13) that states an officer
working out of uniform should identify bimself as an officer if he ig required to
take police action. o - :

The depariment’s policy on use of pepper spray, contained in the May
2003 Standard Operating Procedures Jor Mass Demonstrations, Response to
Civil Disturbances and Prisoner Processing, states that cariisters of Oleoresin
Capsicum (OC or pepper spray) “shall be employed against crowds only as
Recessary in a defensive capacity, anless no ofher crowd managetnent weapons
are readily available.” Any offensive use “shall be.only upon approval of fhe
Field Commander and/or her designee's,” _ ,

Y p. 23, Standard Operating Procedures for Mauss Demonstrations, Response to Civil
Disturbances and Prisoner Frocessing, May 2003 _ .
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peesre”

Cumba’s account of the incident given as part of the MPD investigation,

contrasting sharply with the version included in the litigation and what is plainly
visible on the videotape, and given 23 moriths after it occurred, follows: :

I'was assigned to NSID'S, but detailed to the Intelligence Branch, We were
to gather intelligence by calling in problemg by the protesters such as '
rocks, bricks, bottles, being thrown, I heard 3 1033 over the police radic
from Park Police at the Navy Memorial. I went over in that direction, and
as I started to get over there, there were four to six Park Officers pinped
down at the base of the memorial. People were throwing sticks and
anything they could get their hands o at the officers. They were also
kicking the officers, C -

coming at me with-canisters in their hands,

“We were then able to back up tow.ards the uniform units when they
- asked me if T were okay I told him yes and he let me walk off

consulted with Assistant Us. Attorney Sherri Berthrong in July 2002, wrote fhat . .
the AUSA viewed the Yidgotape, and four days later the department received g

" Natootios gnd Speoial Investigations Division
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folliowed:

letter from the U.8. attorney declining criminal prosecution for the use of pepper

spray.

 the board concluded that the officer’s use of force wag justified.” The board also

determined this was a “tactical improvement opportunity,” that is, Investigator

.Cumba was reconimended for “personalized tactical improvement opportunity

training” at the police academy. -

. At the Committee’s hea;iﬁg December 17 Assistant Chief Broadbent,
whose purview includes the Intelligence Unit, was asked what the officers were
doing the day of the inauguration. He said he did not know, -

To reach the coriclusion in the investigative report,_MPD investigators
appear to have relied solely on statements by Cumba and Worrell. They do not

the amateur videotape, or the discrepancies between the accounts of Cumba and
Worrell. Beyond what appears on the videotape to be illegal use of pepper spray
by a plain clothes officer, the pepper spray incident and resulting investigation

. raise serious concerns about the willingness and capacity of the Metropolitan

Police Department to investigate misconduct within its own ranks.

Chief Ramsey was questioned abouyt this incident and the department’s
investigation in a November 14,:2003 deposition in one ofthe lawsuits, ,
International detion Center, et al v, the United States of America, et af. He
testified that he fitst became aware of the. Pepper spray incident “a couple of
weeks ago” when he also viewed the amateur videotape. Asked if he was aware of
the internal investigation, he said, “I justbecame aware of that tecently.. .through
my attomey, in preparation for this” deposition, Excerpfs of the testimony that

Plaintiﬁ‘s-.attomey Mara Verheyden;fﬁllia;d: Héving viewed that
video, did it appear that their actions were in conformity with their
constitutional obligation as the MPD? . .

Ramsey: [following an objection by his attomej] I'am unable to
_determins based on the footage that I saw.

- Verheyden-Hilliard: Can you describe what the footage was that
you saw? ' : o

Ramsey: An individual had aliquid substance. There was a crowd
. of people, a liquid substance spraying into the air. I don’t know
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what prompted it, unable to see anything going on around or
hearing anything so I-don’t know what prompted it, -

Vetheyden-Hilliard: What did tho individual look jike that you
saw? .

Ramsey: 1 don’t recall, I only saw the tape once,

Verheyden—Hﬂliérd: Do you recall seeing an individual who was . -
wearing a balaclava or a biack mask?-

~ Ramsey: There werealot of people in that tape that had on black
~ masks, ., . '

- Verheyden-Hilliard; Since you have been made aware of the issue

- ofthe use of GC spray at the Navy Memorial have you undertaken

any investigational review of that incident?

* Ramsey: Our Force Investigation Team looks into any discharges

of OC spray now. Y don’t get involved in investigations until they -

 come to me for final determination,

£nsure

The attorney and Chief Ramsey go through a series of questions on the

-of oversight of MPD Office of Tnternal A ffairs and Force Investigation
" Team investigations. Verheyden-Hiltiard asks, “what safoguards are in place to

that the police officer is not ossentially let off the hook?” and “If there is

10 adverse action taken against that officer, is there any safegnard to ensyre that
that was the correct determination?” Ramsey describes the command channe]

review. It is made very clear on the recotd that when an investigation concludes
that the officer acted within MPD policy, as was the case with the pepper spray
incident, there is no second-level review up the chain of comrand.

' Verheydeﬁ&ﬁlliard: Do you intend to take any action to

investigate or ensure that there is investigation of the use of ocC .
spray at the Navy Memorial on Inanguration day? -

‘Remsey: Sinice there is pending civil litigation in this matter, we

certainly will look into it to make sure that it falls within )
department guidelines that existed at the time the ificident took
place. - |
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The prevalence and quality of internal MPD investigations was noi

 initially an issue within the scope of the Judiciary Committes investigation, The

Tecommendations concerning this critical aspect of police work: it is Imperative

 that the D.C, Council, and the public generally, be able to have confidence that

law enforcement leaders hold themselves and their subordinates accountabie,

There is no evidence that the pepper spray inéident Wwas even considered as
an issue by MPD until the litigation forced the Department to acknowledge its

The Committes’s concern with the ability of the MPD .t§ police itself was-
underscored a second time in the coutse of this investigation by receipt on
December 16, 2003 of another Office of Professional Responsibility report on

three allegations b‘ro'ught_ to the department’s aitention in April by Commitfee -

Mr. Adam Eidinger comnplained that six Police officers followed him op
Friday, Masch 28, 2003, as hie rode his bicycle from Dupont Circle to
Visions Theater, located at Comnecticut Avenue and Flotida Avenye, |
Northwest, Mr. Bidinger stated that one of the police officers told him that
Lieutenant Jeff Herold directed ther to follow hinz. o

Ms. Margaret Luck complained that members of the MPDused peor
factics on Saturday, April 12, 2003, when they rode their motoreycles
through a crowd of protesters at 9% apd F Street, Northwest, She stated
that her complaint was not about the conduct of a particular officer, but
about the commandi g officer that directed the officers to ride their

- Inotorcycles through the crowd of protesters, -

. Mr. David Curtis compfained that whils patticipating in a protest on
- Monday, March 31, 2003, he was forced from his bicycle and arrested for
Assaulting a Police Officer. _ ' '



While the Committes notes and apprecistes the dye diligence showy by
the Office of Professional Responsibility in treating these allegationg sufficiently
seriously to have conducted an investigation, the end result is inadequate, Tha is,
the memorandum report does not disagree with, but also does not explain why

. Eidinger was followed by six MPD officers, And it doeg not itidicate any action
taken whatsoever in the wake of MPD having wrongfully arrested David Cuttis

for assaulting a police officer.

who described motorcycles driving into demonstrators. “He.hit me on the back of

‘my leg with his motorcycls,” the lawyer said, but indicated he Was not setiously
injured. He said in the 900 block of B Street eight motorcycle officers used their
vehicles to move demonstrators into the streets, While not precisely the scene

. described by Ms, Luck, the description was similar, and based not on alaw

- enforcement investigation but, rather, on the Committee simply Teviewing tapes

. of police conduct during the April 2003 anti-war demonstrations,

., O the Bidinger complaint, the réport notes, “Lieutenant Herold' reported
that the bicycle riders were followed so that he would know if and when the

With regard to the Clurtis arvest, the memorandum recounts reviewing the
arrest/prosecution report which “appears to Iack the basic elements for an Assanlt
. on a Police Officer.” The arrest was no-papered, that is, prosecution for the

he became vetbally abusive,” when asked for the registration, He wag “removed
from his bicyole and placed under arrest Tot assault on 4 police officer.”

the officers’ commands and atterapted o escape.” As to the individual being
atrested for a crime he did not commit, the memoranduym simply says: “Officer ' _
Hay has since Tesigned from the Metropolitan Police Department and it is

“actually éssalﬂf the officers” and, rather, “it appears that Mr, Curtis failed to obgy
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the department’s leadership does not uge complaints lodged by residents to
evaluate the performance of members of the department or 6f tactics generally
used during demonstrations, o :

| The third and final aspect of the Committee’s inveétigation that points to
failures at self-policing is discussed in greater length in the section on the

Pershing Park mvestigation. As shown there, a series of after-action reports by

Capt. Andrew Solberg,

- effected that day. “The mass arreits at Pershing Park were tdtal'oonﬁzsibn,” wtote

“I was not confident of the fegality of our arrests. .. That a

gteat number of the failure o obey cases were no-papered indicates the USAO

. also felt uncomfortable

with the charges and/or the arrests.”

issues with the arrests, Broadbent insisted ho was not aware of those critjcal
reports, his own signature on one of them notwithstanding, In his deposition,
Execut_ive Assistant Chief Fitzgerald stated that he was ot aware of any problems

- on the issue on October

24,2002;

' During the hearing December 17 and 18 Chief Broadbent and Chief

“Ramsey were asked abo

ut the failure of the department to follow up immediately

on the mistaken arrests when after-action reports indicated serious problems.

Lindings:

Neither gave a satisfactory answer,

The Metropolitan Police Dép_artment has f:;iled in several instances to
‘demonstrate effective self-policing by either failing to initiate investigations

when they are called for by compelling evidence, or by initiating _
investigations that are themselves incomplete, contradictory, and in some
cases not consistent with the facts, with the result tha¢ officials are not held
accountable for misconduct, ' : : S

The Me'ﬁ-opé!itan Police Department failed to investigate the inauguration

day pepper spray Incident until well after it occurred and only when forced -



W
et

to take the ocourrence sei'iously by beth ongoing litigation and this
- Committee’s oversight, giving rise to the perception that misconduct within
the ranks is tolerated,

The investigation itself ignored the conﬂicting evidence presented by the

* amateur videotape that clearly shows Investigator Cumba acting as the

aggressor with the crowd in his use of pepper spray, The report failed to.
address the point of the discrepancy in the officers’ own Statements versus
the visual record of the videotape, :

the oflicel_' used pepper spray in this manner and failed to ascertain if this
was, as alleged, an instanee of serving as agent Drovocatenr, 4 practice the
department leadership officially decries. .

The investigation of allegations by Adam Eidinger, Margaret Luck and
David Curtis similarly were not carried to their logical conclusion in
questioning the policy and practice of conducting surveillance on political

-activists, the inappropriate use of motorcycles during demonstrations, and

the seriousness of making a wrongful arrest of g demounstrafor.

The department failed to initiate its own Investigation of the Pershing Park
arrests based on highly eritical internal after-action reports sent up the chain
of command o the General Counsel, and Executive Assistant Chief (see-
“Case Study: The Pershing Park Investigation™),

The failure of the Department to initiate investigations into the pepper spray
incident and the Pershing Park arrests gives rige to the perception that ,

- hisconduct is investigated only when it becomes a political liability for the

Department.

Recommendation:

. The pepper spray incident should be re-Investigated by an independent |
- aunthority. Options include the Department of Ji ustice (DOJ) Independent

Monitor overseeing implementalion of DOJ's memorandum of ag:_'eemelit
with -on use of force, or the DOJ Ispectoy General. .
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S CASE §TUDY:
THE PERSHING PARK ARRESTS, SEPTEMBER 2002

o On September 27, 2002, the Metropolitan Police Department arrested well
* over 600 persons in connection with anti-war and anti-globalization
demonstrations throughout downtown Washington D.C. The Committee’s
investigation has focused on the arrest of neatly 400 persons in Pershing Park that
day as a case study of MPD practices in order to assess whether the depariment
adheres to its own policy, to legal requitements, and to best practices in agsuring
civil rights while protecting public safety. :

Pldnnz‘ng _
MPD began preparing for the fall 2002 meetings of the Internationa]

Monetary Fund and World Bank several months in advance including
. development of a comprehensive opetations plan for the weekend of events,

Political activists announced plans for both anti-war and anti-globalization events

on Priday, Saturday, and Sunday, September 27-29.

- InaJuly21, 2002 e-mail to members of the commend staff, Assistant
Chief Broadbent warned “preliminary intelligence is that this will be the worst we
ever faced” in terms of demonstrations, Tn Dbreparation for the meetings, the -
department was folly mobilized, and MPD asked for manpower assistance from
several local and federal police departments, - : o '

.-On September 23, 2002, Chief Ramsey bricfed Councilmembers and

~ Council staff on the upcoming weekend’s events, He said that MPD was
expecting 20,000-36,000 démonstrators. He said MPD was most concemed about
non-permitted everts platined for Friday, September 270, Chief Ramsey urged
people to take public transportation o work that day, and to expect delays if
driving. He said that a group called the Anti-Capitalist Convergence was
planning protests for that Friday, perhaps gathering around Freedom Plaza at
around 10 am. Chief Ramsey shared information from the websites of some of

~the groups involved that he said had-indicated they planned to “shut down the
city.” o : S

By contrast to the Council briefing and similar updates provided to the
media, thé Department’s own operatiotis plan indicates that the department did
1ot expiect more than 4,000 demonstrators at any event over that weekend, A
September 27, 2002 Intelligence Unit undetcover activity report indicates that
MPD had a clear picture of the schedule of the demonstrators that day, That
report notes that a “snake march” would begit at 7 am. in Franklin Park at 14%
and K Streets, N.W., that a “Ctitical Mass bike tide” would begin at Union
Station at 7:30 a.m., and that a “People’s Strike” would begin at 9 a.m. at

- Freedom Plaza. o ' -
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The MPD operations plan for Friday, September 27, 2003, describes the
People’s Strike as a “call for protestors to blockade various major inters ections
throughout Washington, D.C. in an effort to shutdown the downtown area” and
desctibes the “Bike Strike” as-a ride to “protest global capitalism and .

- environmental destruction” through the streets of downtown, during rush hour, “in
an effort to shut down the city.” '

Sequence of Events

The Committee has reconstructed the events of September 27, 2002 by
reviewing live media footage of that day as well ag published press reports,
listening to MPD radio runs, reviewing MPD after-action reports and the .
Department’s “running resume” that logs events reported throughout the day, and
interviewing MPD officials. The record shows that mass arrests were ordered -
throughout the downtown area either in the presence of or with the approval of
Chief Ramsey throughout the morning, S

Throughout the morning of September 27%, there were groups of
demonstrators ranging in size from 30 to more than 150 people converging at '
différent locations across the city, from downtown to Dupont Circle. There were
also unsubstantisted reports of small disturbances at different points across the _
city. For example, local televisions stations reported that burning tires were
reported to'be seen on the 14™ Street bridge at around 7 a.m, According to MPD
radio tapes, at 8:48 a.m., 35 demonistrators were throwing debris on Dupont
Circle. And at 8:55 .., a report came over the radio of demonstrators
destroying property at 16™ and P Streets, N.-W. The Committes did not confirm

- the factual basis of these reports.

There were aisq several mass arfests made that 'morm'ng. The arrests .
started at 6:55 axm, when approximatefy 21 demonstrators were arrested for
blocking traffic at the intersection of 14" Street and Independence Avenue, SW, at

the exit/entrance to the 14® Street bridge. Five of these demonstrators linked

- themselves to eack other through “sleeping dragon” devices'” and were exiracted

by the Fire and Emergency Medical Services Emergency Services: Tear.

At 7 am, roughly 400 demonstrators congregated at Franklin Park at 14th

and K Streets, N.W, and then stagted marching out into K Street. Assistant Chief

Brian Jordan was one of four command staff officials given a geographical area of
responsibility, including 14 and K13, L .

7a “sleeping dragon” is a device by which two or tore people can lock their arms together,
usually with a secaring device inside steel ar polyvinyl chlorids (PVC) piping to inhibit the
effoctiveness of removal by saws. o

18 T his deposition testimony that is contiadicted by the operational plan outline of anticipated
ovents, including the snake march to start at Frankin Park, Jordan said: “Friday was a real unclear
day that there was specific requests for the Thursday, the Saturday, and the Suaday, but Friday
there wasn’t any clear information and the respongibility was fust for the area commanders to be

- ready for their areas.”
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. He testified that demonstrators began marching in the street without regard
for traffic, creating “a dangerous situation.” He said, “I decided that we had to
make arrests because if they continue there could be possible serioys danger in
terms of pedestrians being struck,” His civil disturbance units (CDU) surrounded
and attempted to cut off the demonstrators without success,

- !
R—

_ According to MPD?s running resumé for the day, Chief Ramsey atrived on
the scene at 7:27 a.m, . :

. Once the march got to Vermont Avenue, the CDUs blocked in the
demonstrators. According to Assistant Chief Jordan’s commander’s log, at 7:35
a.m., “civil disobedience that could have possible lead to' serious injuries to ,
Pedestrians, drivers, protesters and police, Decision to effect mass arrests made
for marching without a permit.” At 7;40 a.m., additional CDUg were deployed to

14% and K Streets and at 7:46 a.m., smoke bombs were thrown at the police,
Skirmishes then broke out between demonstrators and police officers. fmages of
police officers striking demonstrators aired on local television stations, - :

Assistant Chief Jordan testified that his CDUs formed a cordon around tho

of that area,
Assistant Chief Jordan testified that he did not give warnings, “With
regard to the march, warnings weie impractical and to the point of giving
. . Someone ditections, impossible.” He described the situation as “fluid” until the
police lines stopped the marchers, He was asked, “even though at that point there
‘was a line in front of them and a line in back of them even though in your own
mind you had made a decision to atrest, where was the danger?” Jordan
- responded, “The action stopped the danger. If they were allowed to contjnue the
danger would continye,” Notwithstanding that view, the department’s primary
policy guidance on the issie of-crowd control requires wathing and dispersat
orders prior to mass atrests “when time and ciroumstances permit.”

There were multiple mass atrésts made elsewhere in the cit:} that morning - -
For example, according to radio tapes and media coverage, af 8:22 a.m.,.8 group
of protesters were contained on the 900% block of 128 Street, NW. At 8:32 am,,
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of Connecticut Avenye. By 8:38 a.m., according to the radio tapes, everything -
was orderly at this location. Yet at 9:10 a.nm., a group of demonstrators was .
stopped and contained by CDU wnits at 1025 Conneoticut Avenue, N.W, and at
9:12 am., 42 arrests were made with individuals charged with Failure to Obey.

The largest mass arrest that'morning took place at Pershing Park on

* Pennsylvania Avenue between 14 and 157 Streets, N.-W, Beginning at
 approximately 8:40 a.m., demonstratorg and police officers began converging at
+ . Freedom Plaza between 13 and 14™ Streets and at Pershing Park. According to

radio tapes, at 8:47 aan., 150 demonstrators were headed south on 13 Street
crossing over G Street, . o

. At9am, acall came over the radjo for all transport buses to report to the
1400™ block of Constitution Avenue, N.W., a block south of Pershing Park,
Transport buses are the means used by the police to transport prisoners after

effectuating mass arrests.

By 9:06 a.m., the southern and eastern sides of Pershing Park were closed
off by MPD civil disturbance units, As demonstrators began to converge on this
location, a large group began to walk north on 14 Street. Feating they were
losing control of the &roup, according to Captain McLean, MPD officers cut those
demonstrators off at 14" and F Streets and dirocted frem back down 14™ Street

. and into Pershing Park.

These were not the only demonstrators ushered into the Park by MPD.
One:ot the demonstrators-arrested at Pershing Park, reticed Atmy Lientenant
Colonel Joseph Mayer, was interviewed by MPD as part of its internal
investigation into the Pershing Park arrests, During that interview, he deseribed
arriving at Freedom Plaza to participate in the protest; :

- The police then were surcounding the piaza, told us we could not _
eniter Freedom Plaza, and direoted us across 14th Street, to
Pershing Park, whete they indicated the demonstration was going
to take place. So, we crossed 14th Street to Pershing Park, which
was alse surrounded by police, and the police were at that point
along the curbline surrounding the park, and we went up ont the

- sidewalk, the edge of the sidewalk closést to the park. And we had

'3 cloth banner which we stretched out paralle] to-14th Street, so the
traffic could see it, opposing the war in Trag, and we stood on the
sidewalk with our banner for ten or fifteen minutes, not long, And -
at that point, the police who were along the curb line, danced
actoss the sidewalk and pushed us in the park, we said to the police
Wait & minute, we want to stand on the sidewalk whers our banner
could be seen by the traffic. He said get in the park, so.we moved

- into the patk about'ten or fifteen feet, - - '

51



. At9:06 am., a group of approximately 75 to 100 demonstrators on
bicycles atrived in the vicinity of Freedom Plaza, These “bike demonstrators”
had set off from Union Station at 7:30 a.m. and rode around the city for o
approximately 90 minutes. Captain Andrew Solberg was in command of the
CDU bike units that followed the bike demonstrators that morning, Capt. Solberg
testified that he accompanied the bike demonstrators to the vicinity of Pershing
Park and then the demonstrators ended up in the park, _

Acootding to Sergeant Darrick Ross, who was riding with one of the CDU
bike units, the bike demonstrators had ridden past the park when the CDU officers
were ordered to push the bike demonstrators back info the patk. Given the fact
that MPD had just pushed a Iarge group of demonstrators into Pershi Park from
14® Street, it i likely that the bike denionstratots had no access to 14' Sireet and,

: indeedf were directed into the park. A September 28, 2002 The Washington Post

article'? described it this way:

After steering from Pennsylvania Avenue onto 15" Street, NW -
about 9:10 a.m., they encountered a wall of police that wasn’t

- going to budge. Quickly, the wall collapsed on the riders and
moved them into Pershing Park. The ring of officers around the
park constricted, forcing the bicyclists to commingle with a couple
of hundred other demonstrators who had been corralled there,

-One of the riders, Michas Fichler, testified boforo the Judiciary”
Committes on October 24, 2002-about his experience:

‘I decided to linger in the park for a few minutes to listen to the drums
being played, to soak in the excitemont and energy coming from the
peaceful activists and listen to their message. But before I knew it, the
entire park was surrounded by police: MPD, US Park Police, riot police
from Fairfax County, the MPD bicycle squad.:.f cautiousty approached
the police line and asked ifI could leave. I was denied. I feverishly rode
my bike around the inner perimeter of the park looking fora-way out. T
.could not find one. ‘

Similar testimony was provided by Julie Abbate:

The bike strikers began to'arrive. They appeared to be outnumbered by the
. bike police. The police flanked the bike protesters on both sides and _

funneled them into the park, At that time I noticed that the police presence

was increasing, and I decided to leave. .. was told that [ could not feave.

. By approximately 9:15 a.m., a foll haif hour before the decision to make a
™ass arrest wes made, Chief Ramsey and Executive Assistant Chief Michael

- 1 %A Day of Tightly Controlled Chaos,” Monto ResI‘Walvkington Post, September 28, 2002
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Fitzgerald had arrived at Pershing Park, MPD’s tactical strategy of intentionally
directing demonstrators into the park was confitmed by Chief Ramsey. Tn an
interview with washingtonpost.com that morming, Chief Ramsey said:

There were folks that were in. the street carlier, we told *em to get

out, they didn’t, so we moved *em back into the park, and now

we're in the process of making arrests for failure to obey. We held
~ 'em until we had enoygh buses and vans and people to move in, -

At 9:42 am., all four sides of Pershing Park were closed off and
demonstrators were not allowed to leave. During the approximately thirty
minutes prior to MPD’s closing off the temaining two sides of the park,
detmonstrators and others within the park were not given sny orders to disperse or
warnings that they would be arrested. This hag been substantiated by both the
Committee’s and MPD’s.own investigation, and by the testimony of Captaing

- Andy Solberg and Ralph McLean, Licutenant Herold, and numerous public -

witnesses. Assistant Chief Newsham testified that he believed that warnings had
been given to demonstrators eatlier that morning, and that that, in addition to the
fact that two of the sides of the Park were open for a period of time, was sufficient

“warning to-those inside the park that arrests would be made,

The decision to condiict a mass arrest had not yet been made when Chief
Ramsey and EAC Fitzgerald arrived. According to the deposition testimony of

* BEAC Fitzgerald, Assistant Chief Newsham, who was in charge of the area,

approached Chief Ramsey and EAC Fitzgerald when they arrived on fhe scene

‘and-described the situation. Several witnesses interviewed by the Committee

observed this conversation, which fook place at the southeast comner of the park,
at the intersection of 14® Street and Pennsylvania Avenue, The following are

. relevant excerpts fiom Assistant Chief Newsham’s deposition about this o

conversation:

. Q: We have had sworn testimony that the chief directed you,
instructed you to arrest the protesters, is that correct? -

Al wouldn’t say that’s correct, no.

Q: Well, when you advised him about what was going on did he
have questions about what was going on? :

Al Yes,

‘Q: And did you inform him about what ydu fhought was the
appropriate course of action? :

A:Yes.
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Q: And I take it that you took his involvement as some sort of
approvel? =~ ' :

A: Yes...I know I briefed the Chief and I told him. 1 said I think
they’re arrestable. Like I said, Chief Fitzgerald was right there and-
I felt when I {eft that group that I had the authority fo make the
arrests,., .. y . .

Q: When you described to Ramsey what you saw in a Situation
such that you gaid subsequently in your testimony you felt you had

 his approval, in your conversation with him did yoy directly seek
that approval?

A wou_id say yes. » ‘
: Aceording to Captain Mcl.ean’s deposition testitony, afier thig
conversation with Chief Ramsey, Ciptain McLean and Assistant Chief Newsham
discussed what the demonstrators should be charged with. -

. L his public heating testimony before the Committes, Chief Ramsey
confitmed that he gave approval for the order to make the arrests at Pershing
Park, R ' | :

At approximately 10:25 a.m,, the demonstrators inside Pershing Park

beganto be arrested and loaded onto buses,

Findings

Facts on the record point to a decision to make Preemptive mass arresis at
Pershing Park, Through his public statements and directions to MPD

- commanders, Chief Ramsey set a tone that allowed for and approved of _

preemptive srrests. MPD created an expectation of violence, directed
individuals inte the park, and failed to Permit persons to leave,

demonsirations. Corhmander Tom McGuire testified during his deposition that
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